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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

ANDREA H. SINCLAIR, :. 3:18€V-00656(RMS)
Plaintiff, :

V.

ANDREW M. SAUL,

COMMISSIONER OF :

SOCIAL SECURITY : DATE: JULY 22, 2019
Defendant.

RULING ON THEPLAINTIFF'SAMENDED MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENTAND
ON THE DEFENDANT S MOTIONTO AFFIRM THE DECISION OF THE
COMMISSIONER

This action filed under 8 205(g) of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. 8§ 405(g), seeks
review of a final decision by the Commissioner of Social Security [*S8Athe Commissione}’
denyingthe plaintiff’s application forSocial Security Disability Insurance [“SSDI"] benefits.

l. ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS

On or aboufFebruary27, 2014, theplaintiff filed anapplication forSSDIbenefits claiming
thatshe has been disabled sidemuaryl, 2011, due to the following conditions: seizures; opiate

and benzodiazepine addiction; “spinal fusion/scoliosis/spondylolisthesis”; chroigiaine

! The plaintiff commenced this action against Nancy A. Berryhill, as 4¢fiommissioner of Social Security. (Doc.
No. 1). OnJune 17, 2019, Andrew M. Saul became the Commissioner of Semiaiky. Because Nancy A. Berryhill
was sued in this action onip her official capacity, Andrew M. Saul is automatically substitddNancy A.
Berryhill as the named defendaBeeFed. R. Civ. P25(d). The Clerk of the Court shall amend the caption in this
case as indicated above.

21n her decision, the Admisirative Law Judge [*ALJ”] stated that the plainafsofiled a Title XVI application for
Supplemental Security Income [“‘SSI”] on February 28, 2014. Théfi€drtranscript of Administrative Proceedings,
however, does not include an application for SSI, nor is it mentiongtkiparties’ respective briefs. Accordingly,
the Court will address only the plaintiff's application for Social Seciigability Insurance [*SSDI"] benefits in this
Ruling.
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headaches; “Lyme [d]isease & -otfections”; Behcet's syndromechronic pain, chronic
depression; irritabldbowel syndrome [“IBS”]; and gastroparesis(Doc. No. 10 (Certified
Transcript of Admistrative Proceedings, datedine ¢ 2018[“Tr.”] ) 103, 123, 150 The
Commissioner denied thgaintiff’s applicatio initially and upon reconsideratior{Tr. 10322,
123-47). On November 4, 2014theplaintiff requested a hearing before an Administeatiaw
Judge [*ALJ"]. (Tr. 166—67) On October 4 2016, a hearing was held before AlMary Beth
O’Connor, at whichthe plaintiff and a vocational experRobin L. Generauxtestified. (Tr. 40—
102 seeTr. 227, 251, 25\ On November 2, 2016, the plaintiff amended her alleged onset date
to March 8, 201land requested a closed period of disability, which began on the amended alleg
onset date and ended on June 2@143 (Tr. 280). On January 9, 2017the ALJ issued an
unfavorable decisiodenyingthe plaintiff’'s claim for benefits (Tr. 10-34. On August 4, 206,
the plaintiff requestedeview ofthe hearing decision (TR58—-61;see alsolr. 35-39), andon
February 20, 201,8he Appeals Council denigdeplaintiff's request for reiew, thereby rendering
the ALJ’s decision the final decm of the Commissioner(Tr. 1-6).

The plaintiff filed ker complaint in this pending action @pril 18 2018 (Doc. No. 1).
On July 11, 2018, the defendant filed her Answer and Certified Administrative Tipandated
June 6, 2018. (Doc. No. 100n August 2, 2018, the parties consentedhijurisdiction of a
United States Magistrate Jug@oc. Nos. 15 & 6), andthe case was reassignedhis Magistrate
Judge on August 3, 2018. (Doc. Ni@). On September 12018, the plaintiff filed &r Motion

for Summary Judgment (Doc. No. 19), with brief in support (Doc. Nel)19The parties filed

3 Typically, the relevantime periodfor claims for SSDI benefits is between the claimant’s alleged onseaddtthe
claimant’s date last insuredseeMcLellan v. AstrugNo. 3:12CV-1657 (DFM), 2016 WL 4126414, at *1 n.1 (D.
Conn. Aug. 3, 2016). For SSI benefits, the relevant time ghésioetween the date on which the claimant filed her
application for SSI and the date of the ALJ’s decisi@ee Stergue v. Astrudo. 3:13CV-25 (DFM), 2014 WL
12825146at *2 (D. Conn. May 30, 2014). In this case, however, the plaiatiiested alosed period of disability
of March 8, 2011 through June 13, 2018e€Tr. 280). Therefore, the plaintiff had to establish that she wabldi

at some point during the clospdriod of disability, between March 8, 2011 and June 13, 2014.
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their Joint Steement of Material Facts on December 21, 2018 (Doc. No. 30); and on that same
day, the plaintiff filed an amended Motion for Summary Judgment (Doc. No. 32), wethirbr
support (Doc. No. 32 [*Pl.’s Mem”]). OnJanuary 28, 2, the defendant filed héfotion to
Affirm the Decision of the CommissionéDoc. No. 34), with brief in supportDoc. No.34-1
[“ Def.’s Mem’]). On February 11, 2019, the plaintiff filed her reply brief. (Doc. No. 35).

For the reasons stated belathe plaintiff’'s Amended Motionfor Summary Judgment
(Doc. Na 32) is denied andthedefendant’s Motion to Affirm{Doc. Na 34) is granted

Il. FACTUAL BACKGROUND*

The Court presumdse parties’ familiarity with the plaintiff's medical history, which is
thoroughly discussed in the Joint Stipulation of Facts (Doc.38p. The Court cites only the
portions of the record that are necessary to explaiméuision

[I. THE ALJ'S DECISION

Following the fivestep evaluation processhe ALJ found that the plaintiff had not

engaged in substantial gainful activity sirfe amendedallegel onset date dlarch 8 2011.

4The Courtadopts and incorporates by reference the Joint Stipulation of FactsND. 30). Throughout this Ruling,
commonly used medical terms do not appear in quotation marks althbegerms are taken directly from the
plaintiff's medical records.

5 An ALJ determines disability using a fisstep analysisSee20 C.F.R. § 404.1520. First, the ALJ must determine
whether the claimant is currently workin§ee20 C.F.R. 804.1520(a)(4)(i) If the claimant is currently employed,
the claim isdenied. Id. If the claimant is not working, as a second step, the ALJ must mékdiag as to the
existence of a severe mental or physical impairment; if none existgldine is also denied.See20 C.F.R. §
404.1520(a)(4)(ii) If the claimant is found to have a severe impairment, the third step is tamothp claimant's
impairment with those in Appendix 1 of the Regulations [the “ListingS8e20 C.F.R. §804.1520(a)(4)(iii) Bowen

V. Yuckert 48 U.S. 137, 141 (1987Balsamo v. Chaterl42 F.3d 75, 780 (2d Cir. 1998). If the claimdst
impairment meets or equals one of the impairments in the Listingslaih®ant is automatically considered disabled.
See20 C.F.R. 804.1520(a)(4)(iii) see also Balsamd42 F.3d at 80. If the claimant’s impairment does not meet or
equal one of the listed impairments, as a fourth stegwill have to show thashe cannot perforrher former work.
See20 C.F.R. 8404.1520(a)(4)(iv) If the claimant showshe cannot performer former work, the burden shifts to
the Commissioner to show that the claimant can perform other gainful WeekBalsamdl42 F.3d at 80 (citations
omitted). Accordingly, a claimant is entitled to receive disability benefits drdyei showshe cannot performer
former employment, and the Commissioner fails to show that the ciagaa perform alternate gainful employment.
See20 C.F.R. 804.15208)(4)(v), see also Balsamd42 F.3d at 80 (citations omitted).



(Tr. 15, citing 20 C.F.R. 8 404.157%et seq, and416.971 et seq. The ALJ concluded thahe
plaintiff hadthe following severe impairmentspilepsy; substance addiction; degenerative disc
disease; depression; anxiety; migraines; gastroparesis; aftl (B6 15, citing 20 C.F.R. §
404.1520(c)and 416.920(9) At step three, the ALund that the plaintiff did not have an
impairment or a combination of impairments that met or medically equaled the sefverity af

the listed impairments in 20 C.F.R. Part 48dbpart P, Appendix 1. (TL6, citing 20 C.F.R.
88404.1520(d), 404.1525, 404.1526, 416.9204d)5.925, and 416.926 The ALJdetermined
thatthe plaintiff had the residual functional capacity [‘RFC”] to perfdight work, as defined in

20 C.F.R. 88104.1567(p and 416.96Y), except thashecould occasionally climb ramps and
stairs, balance, ancrawl; she could never climb ladders, ropes, or scaffolds; she could frequently
stoop, kneel, and crouckhehad toavoid concentrated exposure to noise and even moderate
exposure to unprotected heights and moving mechanical parts; and she wa thngimple,
repetitive, routine tasks. (Tr. 18). At step foume tALJ statedthat the plaintiff was unable to
perfom any past relevant warKTr. 24, citing 20 C.F.R. 8 404.1565%nd 416.96p At step five,

after considering the plaintiff's age, education, work experience, andtR&ALJ concluded that
there weresignificant numbersf jobsin the national economy that the plaintiff could perform.
(Tr. 24, citing 20 C.F.R. 8304.1569, 404.1569(2416.969, and 416.969(a)). Accordingly, the
ALJ foundthat the plaintiff was not under a disability, as defined in the Social SecutjtatAmy

time from theamended allegkonset date oflarch § 2011, through thedateof her decision’

(Tr. 25, citing 20 C.F.R. 88 404.1520(g) and 416.920(g)

6 The ALJ stated that “[a]lthough there are references as to other isolatedarsniitiiuding but not limited to a
suggestion of.yme disease,” those conditions wénen-severe.” (Tr. 16). The ALJ reasoned that the evidence
regarding these nesevere conditions “indicates these conditions had acute onsets and argeierally resolved
immediately with appropriate treatment or never lasted 12 continuonthsy’ (Tr. 16).

" The relevant time perioit this case is the closed period of disabitifyMarch 8, 2011 through June 13, 20Rkee
supranote 3.



V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The scope of review of a Social Security disability determination involvesetvas| of
inquiry. First, the court must decide whether the Commissioner applied the cogedgiriaciples
in making the determinationSee Balsamo \Chater, 142 F.3d 75, 79 (2d Cir. 1998) (citation
omitted). Second, the court must decide whether substantial evidence stppalt$ermination
See id.The ourt may “set aside the Commissioner’s determination that a claimant is not disabled
only if the factual findings are not supported by substantial evidence or if the desibased on
legal error.” Burgess v. Astryéb37 F.3d 117, 127 (2d Cir. 2008)t&tion and internal quotations
marksomitted);see alsa12 U.S.C. § 405(g) Substantial evidence is evidence that a reasonable
mind would accept as adequate to support a conclusion; it is more than a “mere.scintill
Richardson v. Peraleg02 U.S. 389, 401 (197{gitation omitted)see Yancey v. Apfdl45 F.3d
106, 111 (2d Cir. 1998&xitation omitted).The substantial evidence rule also applies to inferences
and conclusions that are drawn from findings of fé&te Gonzalez v. Apf@3 F. Supp. 2d 179,
189 (D. Conn. 1998(citation omitted);Rodriguez v. Califano431 F. Supp. 421, 423 (S.D.N.Y.
1977)(citations omitted) However, the court may not decide facts, reweigh evidence, or substitute
its jJudgment for that of the Commission&ee Dotsn v. Shalalal F.3d 571, 577 (7th Cir. 1993)
(citation omitted). Instead, the court must scrutinize the entire record to determine the
reasonableness of the ALJ’s factual findin§ee id. Furthermore, the Commissioner’s findings
are conclusive if syported by substantial evidence and should be upheld even in those cases where
the reviewing court might have found otherwiseee42 U.S.C. 8§ 405(g)see also Beauvoir v.
Chater, 104 F.3d 1432, 1433 (2d Cir. 199citation omitted) Eastman v. Barnhar41 F. Supp.
2d 160, 168 (D. Conn. 2003).

V. DISCUSSION



In this appeal, the plaintiff contends that the ALJ erreitiiee generalegards.First, the
plaintiff argues that the ALdpplied improperly the treating physician rule and misconstrued the
objective evidence in the record. (Pl.’'s Mem. atZ}. Second, the plaintiff maintains that the
ALJ failed to consider adequately the plaintiff's subjective complaints dissutondion. (Pl.’s
Mem. at 2631). Finally, the plaintiff claims that the ALJ erred at step five of the seiglie
analysis by failing to account for certain rexertional limitations. (Pl’'s Mem. at 31). The
defendant responds that substantial evidence supports the ALJ’s decision thantifiendai not

disabled at any time during the closed period of disability. (Def.’s Mem. at 6).

A. THE ALJ'S EVALUATION OF THE OBJECTIVE MEDICAL EVIDENCE
AND APPLICATION OF THE TREATING PHYSICIAN RULE

The plaintiff claims that substantial evidence does not support the ALJ's conclusions
regarding the medical opinion evidermealternatively, that such conclusions run contrary to law.
(Pl’'s Mem. at 18). The plaintiff relies on several arguments ppat this claim. First, the
plaintiff contendghat the ALJ determined erroneously the length of the plaintiff's tredtwién
one ofher mental health treatment provisland that such error was not harmless. (Pl.’'s Mem. at
18-20). Second, the plaifft assertshat the ALJ failed to address adequately the objective
findings and medical opinion of Gaurav Kapur, M.D., regarding the impairments to thftgai
lumbar spine. (Pl.’'s Mem. at 20—-22). Third, the plaimifintaingthat the ALJ failedd address
adequately m unsignedundatedmedical opinion statemenivhich she claims wgsroducedoy
Zeb Ali, M.D. (Pl.’s Mem. at 223). Fourth, the plaintifflaimsthat the ALJ weighed too greatly
the opinions of the State agency medical sources. KRrs. at 2324). Fifth, the plaintifalleges
that the ALJ erred by concluding that an opinion of the plaintiff's mental health prevatbed
“expertise and knowledge” to the extent that the opinion disduse plaintiff's physical

impairments. (Pls Mem. at 2425). Finally, the plaintiff argues that the ALJ afforded too much
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weight to the opinion of the consultative examiner. (Pl.’'s Mem.-42@5 The defendant responds
that the ALJ weighed and evaluated properly the medical opinions of r¢&tl's Mem. at 6).

The treating physician rule requires that “the opinion of a claimant’s tge@ltiysician as
to the nature and severity of the impairment is given ‘controlling weight'rep ds it ‘is weH
supported by medically acceptable clinical and laboratory dsigntechniques and is not
inconsistent with the other substantial evidence in [the] case rec@drjess537 F.3d at 128,
(quoting 20 C.F.R. 8 404.1527(d)(2)). When the ALJ “do[es] not give the treating source’s opinion
controlling weight,”she must “apply the factors listed” in 20 C.F§&404.1527(c)(2), including
“(1) the frequency, length, nature, and extent of treatment; (2) the amount of neadlisalce
supporting the opinion; (3) the consistency of the opinion with the remainingahedidence;
and (4) whether the physician is a speciali€élian v. Astrue708 F.3d 409, 417 (2d Cir. 2013)
(per curiam).Once the ALJ has considered these factors, the ALJ must “comprehensivelits
[her] reasons for the weight assigned to a treating physician’s opinttailéran v. Barnhart 362
F.3d 28, 33 (2d Cir. 20043pe20 C.F.R. 8404.1527(c)(2]*We will always give good reasons in
our notice of determination or decision for the weight we give [the claimarg&jriig source’s
medcal opinion.”). “A failure by the Commissioner to providgood reasons’ for not crediting
the opinion of a treating physician is a ground for remamthhes v. Comm’r Soc. Seblo. 11
CV-1991 (JFB), 2012 WL 4060759, at *12 (E.D.N.Y. Sept. 14, 2018p¢cBnell v. Apfel177
F.3d 128, 133 (2d Cir. 1999)).

1. THE LENGTH OF THE PLAINTIFF'S TREATMENT RELATIONSHIP
WITH FRANCISCAN LIFE CENTER

The plaintiff maintains that the Aldetermined erroneoustiat the plaintiff's treatment
relationship with the Franciscan Life Center [“FLC”] began in March 2014 aasually began in

May 2013, and thahis error warrants remand. (Pl.’'s Mem. at4®). Specifically, the plaintiff



argues that “application of the correct information woelad as a matter of law to finding the
medical opinion entitled to more weight,” which in turn “would lead to the determin&tibrnhte
[p]laintiff was disabled for the closed period of alleged disability.” (Pl.eMat 1920). The
defendant concedes that “the ALJ made a mistake when calculating the length[pfIh]ff's
treatment at thgFLC,]” but avers that this error is harmless. (Def.’s Mem.-at)6 The Court
agrees with the defendant.

“Where. . .an ALJ misreads a critical piece of evidence in the record, and then relies on
his error in reachingher] opinion, the opinion cannot be said to be supported by ‘substantial
evidence.” Joseph v. AstryeNo. 06Civ-1356 (DCF), 2007 WL 5035942, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Dec.
28, 2007), Magistrate Judge’s Recommended Ruling approved and adoptedQe-1366
(RMB), 2008 WL 850158 (Mar. 20, 2008) (citingaldonado v. ApfelNo. 98Civ-9037 (AKH),

2000 WL 23208, at *34 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 13, 2000pee also McHugh v. Astrudo. 1:CV-00578
(MAT), 2013 WL 4015093, at *9 (W.D.N.Y. Aug. 6, 2013). “Further, in some cases where the
ALJ basegher] decision on a misinterpretation of the evidence, remand may be warranted to afford
the ALJ with an opportunity to revaluate the plaintiff's clan in light of what the evidence
actually reveals.” Joseph 2007 WL 5035942, at *5 (citingipsman v. ApfelNo. 98Civ-0743

(HB), 1998 WL 409708, at *& (S.D.N.Y. July 20, 1998))See Malave v. Sullivai@77 F. Supp.

247, 253 (S.D.N.Y. 1991) (explainingat, to the extent the ALJ’s decision was based on a
misreading of the evidence, the decision was “not supported by substantial evidehee in t
record”); see also LatoubDarch v. Colvin 14CV-3000 (SLT), 2017 WL 2964812, at *9
(E.D.N.Y. July 10, 2017)same). Although remand based on the ALJ’s misreading of the record
may be appropriate in some cases, “courts in other instances have heldrthe legrharmless if

the ultimate determination is nonetheless supported by substantial evideRoavarth v.



Berryhill, No. 3:16CV-1844 (JCH), 2017 WL 6527432, at *16 (D. Conn. Dec. 21, 2017) (citing
Trombley v. ColvinNo. 8:15CV-567 (TWD), 2016 WL 5394723, at *4 n.6 (N.D.N.Y. Sept. 27,
2016)) Coates v. ColvinNo. 5:12CV-1340 (GLS), 2013 WL 3148222, at *4 (N.D.N.Y. June 19,
2013)).

Here,the ALJ afforded “partial weight” tan assessment of the plaintiff theatherapist
from the FLC completed in March 2014. (Tr. 23). The ALJ reasoned that

[tlhe record does support mental health limitations consistent with simple, routine

repetitive work based on her impairments with mental status exhaveing

impaired judgment, depressed mood and constricted affect. However, therteatme

record does not support any other restrictions based on the overall conservative

treatment, and normal mental status exams in the closed pénatidition,the
undesigned notes that this therapist had a relatively short treating relationship with

the claimant, of three months in 2014, and thus she does not have the full picture

of the claimant’s longitudinal history. She also cannot speak to the majoattity o

requested closed period, as she was not treating the claimant from 2011 to 2013.

(Tr. 23). As noted above, the defendant concedes that thel&edminedmproperly that the
treating relationship between the plaintiff and the FLC was only three monththadride FLC
treated the plaintiff from May 2013 tdarch2014. GeeDef.’s Mem. at 67).

The Court concludes that a proper understanding of the length of the plaintdfiagre
relationship with the FLC would not “lead to the conclusion that the [p]laintiff wsebtkd for
the closed period of alleged disability” (Pl.'s Mem. at+20) and, therefore, that the error was
harmless The plaintiff's argument overlooks the fact that the length of the treatirtgneslaip
was only one factor in the ALJ’s decision to afford the FLC opinion partial weighe ALJ
concluded also thaglthoughthe record did “support mental health limitations consistent with
simple, routine, repetitive work[,]” it did “not support any other restrictionsdagsethe ovell

conservative treatment, and normal mental status exams in the closed period.”. (The2&jore,

even with the knowledge that the plaintiff's treating relationship with the FLC wasoaths



instead of three months, the plaintiff remains faced with the ALJ’s conclusiorhéhabjective
medical evidence in the record did not support many of the limitations to which the FLC opined.
Substantial evidence supports the ALJ’s conclusion that the record does not supgort man
of the limitations provided in the FLC opinion. For instance, the FLC opined that the plzeaitiff
“an obvious problem” caring for héphysical needé.g. dressing, eatinggnd personal hygiene
on a daily basi¢Tr. 1938); however, the FLC treatment notes in the record do not suggest “an
obvious problem.”The FLC records provide several instances when the plaintiff appeared “well
groomed” (Tr. 2294,2306-07, 2309-10). And although there was one instana the FLC
treatment records noting that the plaintiff looked “ill physicallif.(2309).there are no treatment
notes reflecting problems with the plaintiff's personal hygiene, dress, torgesutines.
Moreover, the FLC opinion indicates that the plaintiff had a “very serious problerh” wit
“[plerforming work activity on a sustained basis (i.e, 8 h[ours] per day, 5 days p&j"whe
FLC explained that “[d]ue to chronic pain an 8 [hours per day, 5 days per week job] would be very
difficult [and] contribute more to the client’s depression.” (Tr. 1939). The FLC records, however,
do not indicate that the plaintiff ever complained of chronic pain or discomfort. |rifaadnly
time the FLC evaluated the plaintiff’'s musculoskeletal system, the treatment tetesrifat the
plaintiff had scoliosis, but that her “muscle strength and tone” and “gait areh$tagre normal.
(Tr. 2294). Given the lack of suppoit the FLC'’s treatment recordsr the FLC opinion, the
Court cannot conclude that proper understanding of the length of the plaintiff's treating
relationship at the FLC would result in the ALJ affording more weight to th& éflinionand,
ultimately, a finding of disability. Accordingly, the ALJ's misreading of the evidem@es

harmkss error.
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2. THE RECORDS OF DR. KAPUR

The plaintiff next argues thaftjhe ALJ[’ s] decision does not address limitations noted in
the treatment records arising from the [p]laintiff’'s spinal fusion surgéypd that this “failure
to account for impairments of the lumbosacral spine, and the recognition by Dr. Kapilnetha
impairment is not compatible with ‘driving, sleeping, sitting, [or] standing for lo@gods of
time[,]’ is premised on an error of law, is harmful, and should be reverget!s Mem. & 19-
20). The defendant responds that the “[p]laintiff’'s argument is nothing more tharspairent
attempt to recast her own subjective statements as a medical source opiniohgt anel ALJ’s
RFC determination accounts for Dr. Kapur's examination findings. (Def.’s.Mef0).

In addressing the impairments that the plaintiff experienced in her luspher, the ALJ
explained that, “[ijn terms of the claimant’s alleged degenerative disc diseas@nations in
2011, 2012 and 2014 showed moderate scoliosis and surgical scar, spasm and tenderness, [and]
positive lumbar facet loading and straight leg raising.” (Tr. 19). The ALJ dtextords from
Dr. Kapur, among others, to suppbetr assertion.Seelr. 19). The ALJ also cited to Dr. Kapur’'s
treatment notes when stating that the plaintiff was prescribed physicgyhgTr. 19). The ALJ
concluded that “the record shows the claimant was able to work after her surgeplifmisand
had good activities of daily living such as hiking and biking. In order to account for lkegpdiac
the undersigned limited the claimant to light work with occasional to frequent @losttivities.”

(Tr. 19).

The ALJ did not, as the plaintiff asserts, ignore Dr. Kapur’s notation that theiffkai
“symptoms [were] worswith . . . driving, sleeping, sitting, [or] standing for long periods of time
(Pl’s Mem. at 20 (citing Tr. 157b(emphasisomitted. Instead, as the defendant points out, the

full notation provides that[tjhe patient reportsthat her symptoms are worse especially with
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activities involving driving, sleeping, sitting, and standing for long periods of woeking, and
weather changes.” (Tr. 1578¢e alsdef.’s Mem. at 10Jemphasis added)Accordingly, this
notation from Dr. Kapur was referencing the plaintiff’'s subjective comfplaf pain, not an
objective medical finding. The notes from Dr. Kapur’s physical exationfrom the same day
reveal that he observed the plaintiff to have a “slightly antalgic” gait; thhguagh there were
some difficulties, the plaintiff was able to watk her tiptoes and heeland that the plaintiff
experienced “moderate tenderness” on palpation of certain muscles in he(bad&76). Dr.
Kapur notedalsothat a motor examination of the plaintiff “[r]levealed full strength in the upper
extremities throughout[,]” and thathe patient was noted to have 4trength” in the lower
extremities. (Tr. 1576). Dr. Kapur diagnosed the plaintiff witter alia, “myofascial pain with
trigger points in the trapezius muscles bilaterally” and noted “clinical ev@dor right L5
radiculopathy.” (Tr. 1576).

Moreover, approximately one month later, Dr. Kapur noted that the plaintiff's eymspt
were “more or less about the same” after four physical therapy sessions, arml knatlhof pain
ranged “from 38 in severity.” (Tr. 1581). Following a neuromuscular examination, Dr. Kapur
stated that the plaintiff's “gait [was] slightly antalgic[{fiat her “lumbar range of motion [was]
slightly limited in all directionf]”; and thatthe plaintiff “had difficulty toe and heel walking.”
(Tr. 1581). A motor examination revealed that the plaintiff had “full strength throughoeptex
for 4+ strength on testing the right foot dorsiflexion, right EHLmuscle.” (Tr. 1581). Dr. Kapur
concluded that the plaintiff should “continue with ploal therapy sessions for her neck and the
low back which appears to be helping to some extent.” (Tr. 1582). He added that “if the pain in

the low back and right leg continues to persist, then a right L5 transforaminal esicucéd
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injection can als be considered to help relieve her symptoms[,]” and that the plaintiff “would like
to consider an injection[.]” (Tr. 1582).

Following an examination in March 2014, Dr. Kapur noted that the plaintiff's “gait is
antalgic[,]” and that her “lumbar rangermbtion is moderately limited [by] pain in all directions.”
(Tr. 1967). He noted also that the plaintiff reported that “overall with theshygyfeels that she
is getting stronger.” (Tr. 1967). In April 2014, the plainsifited “that when resting eitting,
her pain level is usually 2 to 3, but with standing, walking, or doing activities it can gooujo t
7.7 (Tr. 1959). After a physical examination on the same day, Dr. Kagigatedthat the
plaintiff's “gait appeared to be slightly antalgithat “she had difficuly toe and heel walking with
right leg”; that her “lumbar range of motion [was] mitemoderately limited in all directions”;
and that she was tender on palpation “over the right paralumbar area[.]” (Tr. 1959)apbDr. K
includa findings from an MRI that he had ordered, which showady alia, that the plaintiff
“appeare[d] to have slight impingement on the right L5 nerve root on the axial T2 sécfibns
1959). He noted also that the plaintiff was going to schedule an epidural sterclidmjgTr.
1960).

The ALJ’s decision addresses adequately the objective findings and smihiam Kapur.

The ALJmentionedthe positive exam findings and degenerative changes in her lumbar spine.
(SeeTr. 19). Also, in her RFC determination, the ALJ limited the plaintiff to less thanhwork,

noting several postural limitationsSeTr. 18). Although the ALJ did not explain every detail

of Dr. Kapur’s treatment records, it is apparent that she reached her decisidmbasthorough
review of the record before heGSeeMongeur v. Heckler722 F.2d 1033, 1040 (2d Cir. 1983)
(“When, as here, the evidence of record permits us to glean the rationale of’ amédision, we

do not require that [s]he have mentioned every item of testimony presented to hiwmeor ha
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explained whyjs]he considered particular evidence unpersuasive or insufficient to lead h[er] to a
conclusion of disability.”).

3. THE UNSIGNEDMEDICAL OPINION STATEMENT

The plaintiff argues tit “the ALJ’ s] decision makes no[] reference to the statement
appearing at [Tr.] 1999 to the effect tlite] [p]laintiff should be limited to sedentary woas
tolerated” (Pl’'s Mem. at 22) (emphasis in original; internal quotation marks omitted). The
plaintiff explains that it is her “contention” that Zeb Ali, M.D., produced the opinion; haweve
the defendant disagrees with that contenti@i.’s Mem. at 22).In addition to her argument that
the ALJ misapplied the treating physician rule with respe this unsigned opinion, the plaintiff
argues also that the ALJ failed to develop the administrative reCbreldefendant maintains that
this opinion is “unsigned, undated, and unattributed to any medical proaitkthat, regardless,

“[tlhe ALJ had no obligation to expressly discuss every page of records submitted, and did not err
by failing to mention the unattributed, unsigned statements on page 1999 [of thedcertifi
administrative transcript].” (Def.’s Mem. at 11).

“It is the rule in our aicuit that the ALJ, unlike the judge in a trial, mugerfself
affirmatively develop the record.”Pratts v. Chater 94 F.3d 34, 37 (2d Cir. 1997) (internal
guotation marks omittedsee Moreau v. BerryhjlNo. 3:1#CV-396 (JCH), 2018 WL 1316197,
at *4 (D. Conn. Mar. 14, 201&)An ALJ in a social security benefits hearing has an affirmative
obligation to develop the record adequately.” (internal quotation marks omittedhettéy the
ALJ has satisfied this obligation or not must be addressed as a threshold idsu&ven if the
ALJ’s decisionmight otherwise be supported by substantial evidence, the Court cannot reach this
conclusion where the decision was based on an incomplete retdrdriternal quotation marks

omitted).
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“[E]xpert opinionsof a treating physician are of particular importance to a disability
determination.” Id. at *5. “What is valuable about the perspective of the treating physician and
what distinguishes this evidence from the examining physician and from the Ahé tiefting
physician’s] opportunity to develop an informed opinion as to the physical statuspatitet.”
Hallet v. Astrug No. 3:11CV-1181 (VLB), 2012 WL 4371241, at *6 (D. Conn. Sept. 24, 2012)
(citing Peed v. Sullivan778 F. Supp. 1241, 1246 (E.D.N.Y. 1991)). However, “the Second Circuit
has held that it is not per se error for an ALJ to make a disability detemninathout having
sought the opinion of the claimant’'s treating physiciatMoreay 2018 WL 1316197, at *7
(internal quotation marks omitted). Trankisi v. Comm’r of Soc. Se&21 F. App’x 29, 3334
(2d Cir. 2013), the Second Circuit stated that “remand is not always required when faisAbJ
his duty to request opinions, partiady where. . . the record contains sufficient evidence from
which an ALJ can assess the petitioner’s residual functional capacity.”

The parties’ dispute focuses on page 1999 of the Certified Administrative Tpan3trat
page providednter alia, that “[w]e would also like to have statementbased on your medical
findings, expressing your opinion about the claimant’s ability, despite the functionaltionga
imposed by the impairment(s) to do weaddated physical and/or mental activities as
appopriate[.]” (Tr. 1999). As for “[p]hysical activities such as sittingndiag, walking, lifting,
carrying, handling objects, hearing, speaking and traveling[,]” the unsignedmopimvides that
the “[patient] may do sedentary work as toleratsdting as tolerated.” (Tr. 1999). For “[m]ental
activities such as understanding and memory; sustaioedentrationand persistence; social
interaction and adaptation[,]” the unsigned opinion provides that the “[patient] mayrbakte
w[ith] concentraibn, social interaction and adaptich perhaps best suited wj[ith] solitary

situations.” (Tr. 1999).
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A review of the recordeveals that page 1999 is part of a Department of Social Services
report addressed to Surgical Associates of Merittenfull report appears at pages 260Q. (See
Tr. 1999; 200801). The datéJune 21, 20T4appears on thirst page of theeport (Tr. 2000);
however, it is unclear whether that is the date on which the opinion was provided. Alsodas note
above, the opinion is unsignedSeeTr. 1999; 2001). Assumingarguendg as the plaintiff
maintains,that Dr. Ali did author this opinion, the ALJ did not misapply the treating physician
rule because the opiniaa not “well supported by medically acceptable clinical dalgbratory
diagnostic techniquésand is “inconsistent with the other substantial evidence in [the] case
record.” Burgess537 F.3d at 128quoting 20 C.F.R. 8§ 404.1527(d){2)Moreover, he ALJ’s
failure to develogurtherthe origins of this opinion and the absence of the opinion in the ALJ’s
decisiondoes not warrant remand, as there exists ample evidence in the record fromhehich t
ALJ could assess the plaintiff's residual functional capadyeTankisi 521 F. App’x at 33-34.
Both Dr. Ali andPeter Leff, M.D. treated the plaintiff at Surgical Associates of Meriden
and Midstate Medical Center.Sée generallyir. 136194; 1969-2003). Dr. Ali and Dr. Leff
treated the plaintiff for gastrointestinal issues, including insertion ojuagstomytube (*
Tube”), as well as for issues with skin abscess&3ee (enerallyr. 1361-94; 1969-2003).
Nothing in the treatment records from Dr. Ali or Dr. Neff reveals that tieégdnany limitations
in the plaintiff's ability to do workrelated physicald@ivities such as “sitting, standing, walking,
lifting, carrying, handling objects, hearing, speaking and traveling:” 1099, 2001).Similarly,
Dr. Ali's and Dr. Neff's treatment records do not note any limitations in letgf's ability to
do wok-related mental activities, such ‘asnderstanding and memory; sustained concentration
and persistencesocial interaction and adaptation.” (Tr. 1999, 2001). Instead, Dr. Ali's and Dr.

Neff's records include a CT Scan done in 2012, which revealed ¥widence of an acute

16



abnormality seen in CT scan of abdomen and pelvis[,]” but noted “[tjhoracolumbar scoiitbsi
postsurgical changes seen to lower back.” (Tr. 1362, 19TBe treatment records reveal that
the plaintiff presentedftenwith abscesssor problems with her-Jube but noother abnormalities
or complaints. (Tr. 1364, 1367, 1369, 1371, 1378, 1970, 1974, 1980, 1988, 199 t8&
Tr. 1373 (plaintiff complained of “nausea, vomiting, and some diarrhea”), 1374 (saond)rec
1976 (same record); Tr. 1376 (plaintiff complained of “itching”), 1978 (same necrdl1984
(plaintiff complained of “some right thigh pain”)).

Moreover, theotherobjective medical evidence in the record does not support a conclusion
that the plaintiff should be limed to sedentary work or solitary situations. For instance, the
records from one of the plaintiff's treating physicians, Tatiana Feld, MeReal matly normal
examination findings Althoughunder “Active Problem Dr. Feldnoted“Chronic Postoperative
Pain[,]” examinations of her musculoskeletal system redao clubbing or cyanosis of the
fingernails, no joint swelling seen, there was no joint instability noted and ensisehgth and
tone were normal.” (Tr. 1748816). Between March andugust 2013, however, Dr. Feld noted
that the plaintiff “ambulates wh a cane.” (Tr. 1772, 1780, 1785, 1797, 1801, 1804, 1807, 1811,
1815). Furthermorea treatment notdated April 17, 2013, from the University of Connecticut
Medical Group Rheumatology Associates, reveals that “[a]rticular exdion shows no evidence
of any joint pathology. Shoulders, elbows, and wrists have normal motion without pain. She has
no evidence of MCP or PIP joint problems or wrist problems. Lower extremityiexiaom shows
normal hip, knee and ankle motion, and nontender MTP joints.” (Tr. 1836). The note provides
also that “[b]Jack motion is normal and chest expansion is normal.” (Tr. 1836). A December 2013

treatment note from New Haven Rheumatology reveals “[jJoints without asywevitis,
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erythema or warmth. [Full range of motjasf axial and peripheral joints. Strength 5/5. 0/18
tender points. DTR’s 2+.” (Tr. 1834).

Dr. Kapur referred the plaintiff to Hartford Hospital Rehabilitation NetwaorlOctober
2013. GeeTlr. 1824). Following an examination in November 2013 ptinsical therapist noted
thatthe plaintiff reported a present pain level of “2/10[,]” and tasits best, her pain was a “2/10”
and at its worst, it was a “7/10[.]" (Tr. 1826). The plaintiff reported also that her pair£aus
“discomfort with dressing, washing, lifting heavy [weights], walking [momnihL mile, sitting
[more than] ¥z hour, standing [more than] 1 hour, sleep, sexual activities, and t{dvel826).
The physical therapist’'s assessment provided that the plaintiff

[complained of] back pain, muscle weakness, and functional limitations

[Patient] presents with postural imbalances, muscle weakness, badkoahdes

pain, limited [range of motion] in the spine, muscle spasms, [decreased] ftgxibil

paresthesia, incontinence of bladder, [decreased] mobility, discomfort with

positioning, bed mobility, and her transfers and upright posture are severely

guarded. [Patient] will benefit from skilled [physical therapy] services to address

pain and impairments in order to maximize function and mobility within available,

painfree, and spinal fusion/restricted ranges.
(Tr. 1828). The physical therapist added that the plaintiff had “good” rehab potential, &pput m
be slow or limited by her spinal fusion, lengthy history of back pain and systemitdngg@and
progressive disabling nature of Lyme disease.” (Tr. 1828). The examination concluded tha
plaintiff suffered from a “moderate disability” in her low back, which was defined as follows:
“Individuals in this group experience more pain and problems. Travel and sociaklifeose
difficult, and work may be affected. The back condition may be managed through conservative
means.” (Tr. 1828).

Moreover, in February 2012, the plaintiff reported that “the pain does not significantly

affect [activities of daily living] such as getting out of bed, bathing, eafemgd] using the

bathroom facility: (Tr. 1452). The plaintiff reported also that she walked her dog and exercised
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regularly éee e.g, Tr. 1782), that she was taking care of tveo-yearold nephew and that she
planned to return to school (Tr. 2293). Additionalliay 2012 assessment from the Cartivait
Valley Hospital Detoxification Unit noted that the plaintiff reported her recnealtioterests to be
“[p]laying with animals, going hiking, biking, reading, joining up with friends, [and]ndoi
volunteer work. (Tr. 1482). The assessment ndtelso that the plaintiff “helps her father out
almost daily and has been one of his primary caretakers since his canceagmasetl.” (Tr.
1487).

In March 2014, Dr. Feld saw the plaintiff and noted that an examination of her
musculoskeletal system wasrmal. (Tr. 2379). For the most part, Dr. Feld’s treatment notes
from April and May 2014 do not reflect any abnormal musculoskeletal findings or thaaithfpl
complained of any pain.SgeTr. 2359-76). An April 11, 2014 treatment note reveals that the
plaintiff was experiencing “right lower back pain and tendernesafter [motor vehicle accident]
yesterday”; however, the plaintiff reported also that she “feel[g] stgetting be#r.” (Tr. 2369).

Also in 2014, the plaintiff reported to Dr. Kapur that her back pain had improved and that overall
she had been “doing alright.” (Tr. 1967).

Moreover, the objective medical evidence in the record does not support limiting the
plaintiff to only “solitary situations.” The FLC opinion provides that the plaintiff had “no
problem” with the following: “[ijnteracting appropriately with others in a work environnient
“[r]lespecting/responding appropriately to others in authority”; and “ligkptilong with others
without distracting them or exhibiting behavioral extremes.” (Tr. 1939). Aahdiliiy, the State
agency consultants opined that thlaintiff was “[n]ot significantly limited” in the following
categories: interacting appropriately wilie general public; accepting instructions and responding

appropriately to criticism from supervisors; getting along withwookers and peers without
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distracting them or exhibiting behavioral extremes; and maintaining socialgmjgte behavior
and adhering to basic standards of neatness and cleanliness. (Tr. 118, 144). The only instance that
the State agency consultants found other than “[n]ot significantly limitedSdcial interactions
was a finding of “moderately limited” regarding the plaintiff’'s “ability tkasimple questions or
request assistance.” (Tr. 118, 144).

Based on a thorough review, the Court concludesthieaf\LJ’s decision not to reference
the unsigned, undated medical opinion purportedly of Dr. Ali did not constitute aphsdipn
of the treating physician rule. Nor did the ALJ’s decisiontoaequest additional information
regarding this opinion constitute a failure to develop the administrative recordxphsned
above, the objective medical evidence in the redoeb not support the opinion that the plaintiff
could do onlysedentary work as tolerated or that she should be limited to solitary situations.
Moreover, even withouteference tothe unsigned, undated opiniorete existed adequate
evidence in the word from which the ALJ couldetermine the plaintiff's RFCSeeTankisj 521
F. App’x at 33-34;see also Cichocki v. Astrue29 F.3d 172, 178 n.3 (2d Cir. 2013) (per curiam)
(holding that an ALJ “need not recite every piece of evidence that contributesl dedision as
long as the record permits [the court] to glean the rationale of an ALJSalet)

4. THE WEIGHT ASSIGNED TO THE OPINION OF THE STATE
AGENCY MEDICAL SOURCES

The plaintiff next argues thahe ALJs finding “that[S]tate agency medicabarces are
entitled to ‘great weight’ is in error.” (Pl.’s Mem. at 23he plaintiff’s argument here is premised
on the ALJ’s decision not to address the unsigned, undated opiisicussedn the preceding
subsection The plaintiff claims that the ALJ’s failure to discuss the unsigned opinion arehdinst
to afford “great weight” to the State agency medical opinion, “runs afoul of thera@signized

regulatory proviso that the treating provider’'s assessmentstateceto deference.” (Pl.’'s Mem.
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at 24). The defendant maintains that the “State agency physicians provided ghtexanation
of the clinical findings they relied on and the evidence supporting their opinionsf]’ a
accordingly, “the ALJ properlgave great weight to the opinions of the State agency physicians.”
(Def.’s Mem. at 12).The Court agrees with the defendant.

Pursuant to the regulations, an ALJ vgénerally“give more weight to the opinion of a
source who has examined [a claimahgn to the opinion of a source who has not examined [a
claimant,]” 20 C.F.R. 804.1527(d)(1), and the weight an ALJ “will give [Reramining
sources’] opinions will depend on the degree to which [the sources] provide supporting
explanations for their opinions.” 20 C.F.R4@4.1527(d)(3). In other words, the regulations
“permit the opinions of ndA examiningsources to override treating sources’ opinions provided
they are supported by evidence in the recoriaz v. Shalala59 F.3d 307, 313 n.5 (dir.

1995).

As discussed above, the objective medical evidence in the record does not support the
unsigned opinion and, therefotbe ALJ did not err by omittinffom her decisiomdiscussion of
the unsigned opinion.SeePart V.A.3,supra On the other hand, the evidence in the record
supports the opinions of the State agency consultdims.State agency consultanéached their
determinatios following a review of the plaintiff’'s records frohrer treating providersas well as
the plaintiff’'s own reports regarding her conditioise€Tr. 111-12, 135-36).

Concerning the plaintiff's mental impairments, the State agency consultantsded that
the plaintiff was “not significantly limited” with respect to the following activitiesnembering
locations and workike procedures; understanding and remembering very short and simple
instructions; carrying out very short and simple instructions; sustaining anrgndinéine without

special supervision; working with others without beindrdigted by them; making simple werk
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related decisions; interacting appropriately with the general public; acgepstructions and
responding appropriately to criticism from supervisors; getting along withockers and peers
without distracting them oexhibiting behavioral extremes; maintaining socially appropriate
behavior and adhering to basic standastiseatness and cleanliness; being aware of normal
hazards and taking appropriate precautions; traveling in unfamiliar placesirg public
transportation; and setting realistic goals or making plans independently of otherd174¥19;
143-44). The consultants opined also that the plaintiff was “moderately limited” vgipeceto

the following activities:understanding and remembering detailed instructieastying out
detailed instructions; maintaining attention and concentration for extended p@eofdtsming
activities within a schedule, maintaining regular attendance, and being glumithin custonary
tolerances; completing a normal workday and workweek without interruptions from
psychologically based symptoms and performing at a consistent pace without asooabde
numbers and length of rest periods; asking simple questions or requesting assatdnce
responding appropriately to changes in the work setting. (Tr. 117-18; 143-44).

The plaintiff's records from the FLC reveal that, on intake,plaintiff presented with a
“severe” impairment of interpersonal and social interests because shpjwagdersonal time.”
(Tr. 2291). The treatment records that follow shibat although there were instances where the
plaintiff appearedinter alia, depressed and stresssedlr. 2303-12),theplaintiff madeprogress
toward her treatment goals (T2304-12) and typicallypresented with “good” attention and
concentration, “good” judgment and insight, and “logical” and “goal oriented” titqugcess
(SeeTr. 2294-2300) Moreover, the plaintiff's treatment records frad@onnecticut Valley
Hospital ['CVH"] reveal a normal mental status examination upon admission (Tr—14y the

notes upon her discharge show that the plaintiff “successfully completed the progicnhat
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her condition was “stable.” (Tr. 1524, 1527). Accordingly, the objective evidence in the record
supports the State agency consultants’ findings regarding the plaintif€stal health
impairments.

With respect to the plaintiff's physical impments, the State agency consukampined
that the plaintiff could occasionally lift and/or carry twenty pounds, fredykfttand/or carry ten
pounds, stand and/or walk for six hours ireaghthour workday, sit for six hours in an eigtdur
workday, and had no limitations pushing and/or pulling. (Tr.—154 140). The consultants
opined also that the plaintiff could occasionally climb ramps/stairs, nevenb cli
ropes/ladders/scaffolds, occasionally balance, frequently kneefjuefndy crouch, and
occasionally crawl. (Tr. 115, 14081). The consultants determined thae tplaintiff's
environmental limitations were unlimited, except that she should avoid conceraxgtesure to
noise and avoid even moderate exposure to hazards. (Tr. 115-16, 141).

The evidence in the record supports these opinions. For exdahgpfdaintiffunderwent
spinal fusion surgery in January 2006 (Tr.-68®), was observed to have an “antalgic gait” and
difficulty heel walking in 2013 (Tr. 1963Jad severaproblemswith her 3Tube &ee, e.g.Tr.
747, 75560, 77881, 836-37, 85160, 1368+2, 137879, 138788, 152426, 1544-46), and
experiencedyastrointestinal problem@ee, e.g.Tr. 1374, 1661 2144. In 2014, however, the
plaintiff was observed to have normal gait and motor strength and reportdeethatver back
pain had improved. (Tr. 17333, 1967). Moreovemr. Feld noted that, for the most patig
plaintiff had “moderate” or “stable, moderate” controhef gastrointestinal issuetSe€lr. 2469,
2473, 2497, 2562). Although there were a few instances where Dr. Feld noted that the plaintiff
had “uncertain” or “poor” control of this conditiosdeTr. 2481, 2500, 2512, 2545), there were

also notations that the plaintiff’'s condition wds]table, inproving” (Tr. 2509, 2552), and that
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the condition improved following dietary changes. (Tr. 1661). Accordingly, objective medical
evidence supports the State agency consultants’ opinions regarding the planhyffical
impairments.

5. THE FLC'S OPINION REGARDING THE PLAINTIFF'S PHYSICAL
CAPABILITIES

The plaintiff next argues that the Aldkterminederroneously‘that the mental health
treating opinion is entitled to less than full weight because the medical sakis$ éxpertise and
knowledge regardig the[p]laintiff's capacity to perform the physical demands of sitting or
standing.” (Pl.’'s Mem. at 24). The defendant responds that, “[b]efi#nesELC] did not treat
[the] [p]laintiff for her physical conditions, the ALJ reasonablyeayéttle weight to this portion
of the opinion.” (Def.’s Mem. at 8).

“An ALJ may accord less weight to a treating physician where [s]he comments
conditions for which [s]he did not treatMedick v. ColvinNo. 5:16CV-341 (CFH), 2017 WL
886944, at *6 (N.D.N.Y. Mar. 6, 20173ee20 C.F.R. 8§ 404.1527(c)(2)(ii) (explaining that “if
your ophthalmologist notices that you have complained of neck pain during your eye
examinations, we will consider h[er] opinion with respect to your neck pain, but weiwelit
less weight than that of another physician who has treated you for the neck p&rg)als®0
C.F.R. § 404.1527(c)(5) (“We generally give more weight to the opinion of a specialist about
medical issues related to his or her specialty than to the opinion of a source whoais not
specialist.”).

In the FLC opinion, discusslin Part V.A.1,suprg the treatment providers commented
that “[d]ue to chronic pain an 8 [hour per day] 5 [day per wekkwould be very difficult [and]
contribute more to the client’s depression.” (Tr. 1939). In her decision, the Adedfthe FLC

opinion “partial weight” andeasored,inter alia, that the FLC had “no basis for noting the claimant
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cannot sitand stand long due to [the provider’s] lack of expertise and knowledge in treating the
claimant for physical impairments.” (Tr. 23).

The ALJ’s conclusion that the FLC had “no basis” for opining on the claimant’sgalhysi
impairments was not erroneoushroughout the course of her treatment at the FLC, the plaintiff
did not complain to the providers of pain or any musculoskeletal issues. As noted abonly, the
FLC record containing notes about the plaintiff's musculoskeletal systesdesdhat the pintiff
had scoliosis, but that her “muscle strength and tone” and “gait and station” were. n¢fmal
2294). Accordingly, the ALJ determined properly that there was “no basis” for the d&-LC t
conclude that chronic pain limited the plaintiff's ability waork and would contribute to her
depression.

6. THE WEIGHT ASSIGNED TO THE CONSULTATIVE EXAMINER’S
OPINION

The plaintiff’s final argument with respect to the AL3jsplicationof the treating physician
rule is that the ALJ erred by affording partial weight to the opinion of theuttatise examiner.
(Pl’'s Mem. at 25).Specifically, the plaintiff claims that the AlsJdecision improperly overlooks
that the consultative exandtion occurred after the closed period of disability, and that the ALJ
improperly afforded “enhanced weight” to the consultative examiner’'sapatiter the plaintiff's
counsel said it had “no objection” to the report’s admission. (Pl.’s Mem. at 25).

A medical opinion provided well after the relevant period for establishingitiiggdmay
be of little, or no, probative value regarding [the] plaintiff’'s conditituming the relevant time
period.” Durakovic v. Comm’r Soc. Se&o. 3:17#CV-0894 (TIM)(WBC), 2018 WL 4039372,
at *4 (N.D.N.Y. May 30, 2018) (citingVilliams v. Colvin 98 F. Supp. 3d 614, 632 (W.D.N.Y.
2015)). However, the fact that an opinion was prepared after the relevant period does sot, on it

own, provide a basis for disregarding that opini@ee id(citing Brown v. Astrug4 F. Supp. 3d
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390, 399 (N.D.N.Y. 2012)). The end date for a closed period of disability “should red act
cutoff with regard to the reports considered on [a] specific isslee.at *5 (internal quotation
maiks omitted) see CardosdNavarrete v. Berryhill No. 17Civ-2446 (RJS)(AJP), 2017 WL
6375947, at *11 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 13, 2017).

Here,the consultative examiner’s opinion, which was consistent with the objective medical
evidence in the record, “was not so chronologically distant from [the] [p]lasnfifiosed period
of disability] to render it irrelevant.’Durakovig 2018 WL 4039372, at *5The closed period of
disability ended on June 13, 2012eéTr. 13), and the consultative examiner completed her
evaluation of the plaintiff just over two months later, on August 21, 26&dT{. 3029). This
time span is distinguishable from cases in which the consultative examinationltaleesgveral
months or even years following the relevant periGee, e.g.McNally v. Comm’r of Soc. Sec.
No. 5:14CV-76, 2015 WL 3621437, at *13 (N.D.N.Y. June 9, 2015) (stating that ALJ properly
afforded little weight to consultative examiner’s opinion that was produced qgryeiars after
the relevant time period)Accordingly, even though the consultative examiner evaluated the
plaintiff roughly two months after the end of her closed period of disability, thesAleEisiorto
afford the consultative examiner’s opinion partial weight was not erroneous.

The plaintiff argues also that, because her representative at the hearing djdetdbdbe
admission of the consultative examiner’'s report, the ALJ afforded “enhancetitive the
examiner’s opinion. The Court rejects this argument. Although tienated that the plaintiff's
representative had “no objection” to the admission of the consultative examiperts(ig. 22),
the ALJ explained thahe was affording “partial weight” to the opinion becaliseas “consistent
with the treatment recordhowing many normal mental status exams but for depressed mood and

constricted affect, and supp®the restriction to simple, routine, repetitive work.” (Tr. 23).
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short, the examiner’s opinion was consistent with the objective medical evideheesoardand
the ALJ did not err by affording it partial weight.

B. THE ALJ'S CREDIBILITY FINDINGS

The plaintiffclaimsthat“the ALJ[’ s] decision errs in its analysis of the [p]laintiff's claims
of disabling limitations arising from pain and other symptom®I’’{ Mem. at 26). The plaintiff
makes numerous arguments to support her claim. First, the plamindsthat substantial
evidence does not support the ALJ’s credibility determinations regarding theffdaallegations
of frequent bouts of diarrhea. (Pl’'s Mem. at28). Second, she argues that the ALJ relied
erroneously on “never confirmed” allegations of Munchausen’s andhaeti in discrediting the
plaintiff's allegations of pain and other symptoms. (Pl.’s Mem. aR2B Third,she maitains
that substantial evidence does not support the ALJ’s conclusion thaatheff did not attempt
suicide or present with suicidal ideation during the alleged period of disabilitizs Nlem. at 29).
Fourth, the plaintiff argues that theeAmischaracterizes the plaintiff's treatment for her physical
and mental health conditions as “conservative and mild” and “limited.” (Pl.’'s Me&®-30).
Fifth, the plaintiff argues that substantial evidence does not support the Abhfénton thathe
plaintiff could “hike, bike, and volunteer” during the alleged period of disability.’s(Flem. at
30-31). In response, the defendant maintains that “the ALJ properly evaluateg][thie}iff's
subjective symptoms and found that her allegatioesewnot entirely consistent with [the]
objective and other evidence of record” and, therefore, that “[s]Jubstantial evidepports the
ALJ’s conclusions.” (Def.’s Mem. at 15).

The “Social Security regulations provide a tatep process for evaluating a claimant’s
assertions of pain and other symptom#/atson v. Berryhi)l 732 F. App’x 45, 52 (2d Cir. 2018)

(summary order) (internal quotation marks omitted). The ALJ must eldiced “whether the
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claimant suffers from a medically determinable impairment that could ralslydme expected to
produce [the claimant’'s] symptoms” and, if so, “the ALJ must then evaluatattresity and
persistence of [the claimant’s] symptoms to determine the extent to which thesgninit the
claimant’s capacity for work.”ld. (internal quotation marks omittedMoreover,the reviewing
court affords“special deferenceé to an ALJs credbility determination as the ALJ*had the
opportunity toobserve the witnessedemeanor.” Tarsia v. Astrug418 F. Appx 16, 19 (2d Cir.
2011) (quotingrellow FreightSys, Inc. v. Reid, 38 F.3d 76, 81 (2d Cir. 1994)) (internal quotation
marks omitted.

1. THE PLAINTIFF'S ALLEGATIONS OF FREQUENT BOUS OF
DIARRHEA

The plaintiff claims that “[tjhe contention in the ALJ decision that diarrhélavamiting
are not reported in the medical evidence of recolfifie@guent occurrenceswhile specific, is
not legitimate—as the medical record demonstrates times when these events did occur with the
frequency alleged by the [p]laintiff.” (Pl.’s Mem. at-ZB). The defendant responds that “the
ALJ properly found that [the] [p]laintiff's complaints about her gaistestinal symptoms were
not supported by the evidence of record.” (Def’s Mem. at 16). The Court agrees with the
defendant.

The ALJ concluded that, “[w]ith respect to her physical impairmentghe claimant’s
statements are not consistent with the objective treatment record.” (Tr. P0¢ ALJ
acknowledged that “the record did show numerous hospitalizations, with vomiting, diantie
pain with feeding tube placement”; however, “there aB® mention that [the plaintiff] could
have Munchausen’s, purposely messed with her feeding tube, was malingering, simbtjwa
following the recommended diet.” (Tr.281). The ALJ explained thatCT scan othe plaintiff's

gastrointestinal systemvas normal‘with [her] symptoms appearing to abate in the latter half of
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2012 other than some continued problems with iebd][,]” leading to the conclusion thathile
the record showed ongoing treatment with some hospitalizatior these [gastrointestinal]
impairments, the treatment record does not support the level of severity dlietiee claimant.”
(Tr. 21).

Thetreatment notes regarding the plaintiff's gastrointestinal issnest notably diarrhea,
reflectthat for the most partthe plaintiff had “moderate” or “stable, moderate” control of this
condition. SeeTlr. 2469, 2473, 2497, 2562). Although there were a few instances where Dr. Feld
noted that the plaintiff had “uncertain” or “poor” control of this condit{eeeTr. 2481, 2500,
2512, 2545), there were also notations that the plaintiff's condition [gfiable, improving” (Tr.

2509, 2552), andhat the plaintiff's diarrheabatedfollowing dietary change§Tr. 1661) In
December 2011, the plaintiff reportéal Dr. Feld that she had diarrhea every fifteen minutes
including through the night (Tr. 2528); in March 2012, she reported to Dr. Feld that she had
diarrhea every hour (Tr. 2498). Although these are two instances where the plepuited
frequent diarrhea, the examinations through the closed period of disability revelgl moostal
findings GeeTr. 2359-2563)and, as the ALJ noted, the plaintiff's diarrhea seemed to subside
midway through the closed period of disabilifseeTr. 2359-2454). The evidence does not
support a finding that the plaintiff had frequent diarrhea on a continuous basishtiurbtige
relevant period. Accordingly, substantiaédicalevidence supports the ALJ’s conclusion that the

plaintiff's complaints of diarrhewere not as severe as she allegedng her testimony

2. THE ALJ'S RELIANCE ON ALLEGATIONS OF MUNCHAUSEN'S
SYNDROME
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The plaintiff next argues that the ALJ relied improperly on unconfirmed suspicions of
Munchausen’s syndrori¢o conclude that the plaintiff's impairments were not as sevesheas
alleged. (Pl's Mem. at 2829). In response, the defendant reiterates the ALJ’s statement that
there was evidence in the record that the plaintiff “had purposefully interfetiedhariJ]-tube’
which “raised the question of whether she was malingering or had Munchalssemsome]’

(Def.’s Mem. at 15). The Court concludes that substantial evidence in the record supports the
ALJ’s reliance on allegations of Munchausen’s syndrome.

As noted in the preceding subsectitime ALJ stated that “there was also mention [in the
record] that [the plaintiff] could have Munchausen’s, purposely messed with her fadzBnaas
malingering, and [was not] following the recommended diet.” (T+22Q In fact, the ALJ noted
specifically that, “[ijn October 2011, [the plaintiff] was noted to be pogsimlingering, with
possible drug seeking behavior, including intravenous Benadryl, and in November 2011[,] she was
noted to have selhduced foreigrbody granulomas (Munchausen’s). In December 2011, her
doctor again raised the possibility of Munchausen’s which the claimant adychamed.” (Tr.

20).

Substantial evidence in the record supports the ALJ’s mention of Munchausen’s syndrome
while evaluéing the plaintiff's credibility. For instance, upon discharge from Yale NeweH
Hospital in June 2011, the physician noted that, “[a]t this point, there were no acusefiesue
the medical standpoint and gastroenterologyl,]” thet plaintiff “wasseen by the psychiatry
service as consultants raised the question of factitious disorder and passiadying

Munchausen syndrome(Tr. 764). The physician noted also that, after stopping intravenous pain

8 Factitious Disorderalso known asMunchausen’s Syndromés defined as “a serious mental disorder in which
someone deceives others by appearing sick, by purposely getting $igkselfinjury.” Diseases & Conditions
Mayo  CLINIC.ORG, https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseasesnditions/factitiousdisorder/symptomsauses/syc
20356028 (last visited Bu9, 2019).
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medication, the plaintiff was “resistatt the changes of her medications and was requesting to
continue with her intravenous pain medications.” (Tr. 764)oreove, a November 2011
discharge summary from the Hospital of Central Connecticut provided that thefffgafinal
principal diagnos was “Chronic Factitious lllness with Physical Symptoms.” (Tr. 113
addition, according to another record from the Hospital of Central Connetiicuas found that
[the plaintiff] has been in the hospitals on numerous occasions with illnesses, whiahtagpe
factitious and what seemed to have been brought on by her concern with being car@d.for
1149). Anotherecordlisted her “discharge diagnosis” aster alia, “[s]elf-induced foreign body
granuloma’s (Munchausen’®) (Tr. 1160). A physician at the Hospital of Central Connecticut
noted also that “[tlhe patient clearly does have dmweeking behavior, and has made multiple
requests throughout her hospital stay for specific use of IV Benadrifil&ddid and has refused

all attemptsat oral use of these medications either by swallowing or by use of|ftabgl” (Tr.
1219). The physician opined that the plaintiff “would strongly and greatly benefit fne
inpatient hospitalization in a psychiatric unit to monitor behavior adcead her addiction as well
as her Munchausetype behavior.” (Tr. 1220).And a 2012 discharge summary from Bristol
Hospital explaiedthat the plaintiff “tends to split the medical team complaining about different
symptoms. She will then change her chéamd complain about some other symptoms.” (Tr. 1400).
Accordingly, there was substantiaghedical evidenceto support the ALJ's mention of
Munchausen’s syndrome whevaluating the plaintiff's credibility.

3. THE PLAINTIFF'S ALLEGED SUICIDE ATTEMPTS

The plaintiff argues that the ALJ concluded improperly thatplaintiff did not attempt
suicide during the closieperiod of disability and cites two examples in support. (Pl.’'s Mem. at

29). The defendant responds that the plaintiff consistently denied any sideig#bn and that
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there were “other plausible explanations for her behavior that appear in the record tisgpiper
ALJ’s conclusion that “the record did not document any suicide attempts duricigskd period.”
(Def.’s Mem. at 1617). The Court agrees with the defendant.

In her opinion, the ALJ stated:

During the relevant alleged closed period, examinations were normal but for

depressed mood, constricted affect, impaired judgment and disconnected

thoughts. .. Furthermore,while the claimant reported a history of suicide
attempts, . .there was nothing to substantiate that in the record, as she reported no
psychiatric treatment and history in May 2012,and later reported no such
attempts.

(Tr. 21-22) (citations ontted).

Substantial evidence supports the ALJ’s determinationth®atrecord did not contain
sufficient evidence to establish that the plaintiff had a history of attemptingesugthe plaintiff
points out, she was admitted to the emergency department of the Hospital of Cemtrecticut
following an incident during which she “had a serrated knife and was trying to cutf.he(%el
1001). The treatment note provided thhe plaintiff “had expressed suicidal ideations earlier 5
days ago”; however, it alsmdicatedthat, at present, “the [p]atient/[flamily denies [s]uicidal
ideations” and that “[tlonight she did not express [suicidal ideation].” (Tr. 1004¢. plaintiff
explained that she “attempted to cut her wrists because ‘of pain.” (Tr. 1@8@bjtionally, in
April 2012, the plaintiff was admitted to Bristol Hospitahenher brother found her unconscious
at homeafter she‘reportedly consume[d] 32 tablets of 1 mg Klonogin[ (Tr. 1400). While
discustg this evat, however, the plaintiff denied any isidal ideation andstated that she
actually “only consumed 8 mg of Klonopin[.]” (Tr. 148M). Moreover, the plaintiff's treatment

recods with the FLC reveal that she never once expressed suicidal ideation (@eplem 2289-

2312) and, in 2015, she “denie[d] any previous history of suicide attempts.” (Tr. 3377).
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Accordingly, substantial evidence supports the ALJ's conclusion thatettwdd contained
“nothing to substantiate” the plaintiff's alleged history of suicide attem{dis 22).

4. THE ALJ'S CHARACTERIZATION OF THE PLAINTIFF'SMENTAL
HEALTH TREATMENT

The plaintiff argues also that the ALJ erred by characterizing the pigittdatment as
“limited” and “mild and conservative.” (Pl.'s Mem. at-Z3). The plaintiff maintains that she
“underwent significant mental health treatment” and had been étteatith aggressive
pharmaceutical pain management medication since the age]of ['s Mem. at 2930). The
defendant responds that the ALJ’s characterization was reasonkde of the evidence(Def.’s
Mem. at 17).

While addressing the plaiff's physical impairments, the ALJ explained that the plaintiff
underwent “mild and conservative treatment of physical therapy durin@léheant period, and
[had] mild MRI findings.” (Tr. 20). With respect to the plaintiff's mental impairtsethe AJ
opined that “[tlhe overall treatment record showed mild and conservative tredionemtr
depression and anxiety with no hospitalizations or significant inpatient inteme (Tr. 21).
Also, while discussing the State agency consultants’ opiniba#\LJ stated that “[t]he objective
treatment record, including the normal EEG and neurological exam, mild MRliraitdd
treatment for back pain, and conservative treatment for depression and anxiety tter
requested closed period, also supports these opinions.” (Tr. 22).

The ALJ’s characterization of the plaintiff's treatment as “mild and conseeVaand
“limited” was not erroneous. The plaintiff had a spinal fusion surgery yearseibémirelevant
period(Tr. 666-69) however, he record reeals that, during the closed period of disability, the
plaintiff treated her physical impairments with physical therapy and pain medica&ithough

the plaintiff took opioid for several years, she stopped taking them in 2012 following a voluntary
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detaxification and rehabilitation program(SeeTr. 140710). From that point on, the plaintiff
was treated with suboxone and physical therapyphysical therapy treatment note rated the
plaintiff as having a “moderate disability”; howevdr,explained that the disability “may be
managed through conservative means.” (Tr. 1828). Additionally, in 2013, Dr. Kapur
recommended that the plaintiff treat her condition with Tylenol and physicapthe(@r. 1963).

The record does not reveal that thlaintiff underwent any invasive or aggressive treatment
measures.

With respect to her mental health impairments, the plaintiff similarly underwent
conservative treatmentDuring the closed period of disability, the only hospitalization related
directly to the plaintiff's mental healtimpairmentswasfor a detoxification and rehabilitation
program to address the plaintiff's dependence on opioid pain medicaBeeTr( 1465-1527).
Althoughthe plaintiff was hospétized following analleged @erdose on Klonopin, #evidence
in the record does not lsstantiate that this vgarelated to anental health issue, as the plaintiff
took less Konopin as reported andenied suicidal ideationSeePart V.B.3,supra For most of
the relevant perigdhe plaintiff attended counseling sessions with the FLCets®lvhere on an
outpatient basis. Accordingly, the ALJ did not err when she characterized théfjddaneitment
as “limited” and “mild and conservative.”

5. THE ALJ'S CONSIDERATION OF THE PLAINTIFF'S ACTIVITIES

The plaintiff's next argument is thaubstantial evidence does not support “[tjhe ALJ
decision’s finding that [the] [p]laintiff .. was able to ‘hike, bike, and volunteer’ during the period
of alleged disability[.]” (Pl.’'s Mem. at 30). The defendant responds'[tila¢ ALJ reasonably

relied on [the] [p]laintiff's reported activities, as well as the medical ewdei record and her
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treatment history, in finding that she could perform light work.” (Def.’s Mem. at 2li¢. Court
agrees with the defendant.

The relevant regulations provide that, when analyzing the credibilgytintiff, the ALJ
should consider evidence related to the plaintiff's daily activitges20 C.F.R. § 404.1529(c)(3);
Cichocki 534 F. App’x at 76. Here, the ALJ found that “[t]he claimant has repdaigdactivities
not consistent with total disability[.]” (Tr. 19). The ALJ reasoned:

She is able to drive, attend to her activities of daily living, attend appointnmehts a

attend church.. . She has good relationships with family and friends. Some

of the physical and mental abilities and social interactions required in order to

perform these activities are the same as those necessary for obtaining and

maintaining employment. In addition, despite alleging a history of debilitating
medical problems, the claimant was able to attend college and work. Shdevas ab
to hike, bike and volunteer.. The claimant’'s ability to participate in such
activities is not fully consistent with the claimant’s allegations of disabling
functional limitations.

(Tr. 19)(citations omitted)

In May 2012, when the plaintiff voluntarily admitted herself to the detoxificationaini
CVH, the plaintiff was asked if she had “hobbies, leisure, recreational istéhestwould be
supportive to [her] recovery[,Jand she respondetRlaying with animals, going hiking, biking,
reading, joining up with friends, doing volunteer work.” (Tr. 1482e of the clinician’s at CVH
noted that the plaintiff “helps her father out almost daily and has been one of lasymanetakers
since his cancer was diagnosed.” (Tr. 1487). Moreover, the plaintiff reported 1oGHbdE she
helped care for her twgearold nephew. (Tr. 2293, 2295).

The ALJ did not err by considering the plaintiff's reported activities and holide
analyzing the plaintiff's credibility. The plaintiff alleged that shefenafd from severe physical

and mental impairments and, as a result, was unable to maintain employment. Dupieripthe

of alleged disability, however, the plaintiff reported to her treating providers thathabby, she
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did volunteer work and stayed active and that these actiwiéeshelpng her to recover from her
opioid addiction. In accordance with the relevant regulatamtscase laywthe ALJ considered
properly tie plaintiff’s daily activities while analyzing her credibility.

C. THE ALJ'S STEP-FIVEDETERMINATION

The plaintiff's final argument is that substantial evidence does not suppdkttl’'s step
five conclusion that jobs existed in significant numbers in the national ecohatypé plaintiff
could perform. (Pl’'s Mem. at 31). The defendant respondyt}m&t hypothetical question posed
to the vocational expert . adequately captured all of [the] [p]laintiff's limitations as assessed
the RFC” and, therefore, “the ALJ was entitled to rely on the [vocational esjpeginion
regarding jobs that [&#] [p]laintiff could perform.” (Def.’s Mem. at 21).

The vocational expert testified that the plaintiff could perform the following jolasking
clerk; cashier; and hand packager. (Tr. 25;984. The ALJ relied on the vocational expert’'s
testimony inconcluding that the plaintiff “is capable of making a successful adjustment to othe
work that exists in significant numbers in the national economy.” (Tr. 25).

The plaintiff argues that the ALJ erred in relying on the vocational expestisiony, as
the “positions require interaction with public and others[,]” rendering them “not cdsteuiith
[the] [p]laintiff's non-exertional limitations.” (Pl.’'s Mem. at 31). The plaintiff bafier argument
in part, on the fact that the unsigned, undated opinion provided that the plaintiff should be limited
to “solitary situations.” (Pl.’'s Mem. at 31; Tr. 1999, 2001). She maintains that theedsgord
is “supported by the opinion of treating mental health providers, who opined [that]ltieti{ff's
mental impairments pose ‘serious’ to ‘very serious’ problems in her afoilgystain work activity,
meet the ordinary demands of the work environment, and complete tasks ainalveapace.”

(Pl’s Mem. at 31).
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The Court hasireadyexplained that th medical evidence in the record does not support
the assertions in the unsigned, undated opinitre fact that the ALJ did not reference the opinion
in craftingherhypothetical to the vocational exp&ras thereforenot erroneous Moreover, the
ALJ accounted for the limitations to which the mental health providers opinesstrictingthe
plaintiff to simple, repetitive, routine tasks. Accordingly, substantial evidemposts the ALJ’s
stepfive determination that jobs existed in the national economy that the plaintiff caotddnpe

V1. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated abovke plaintif's Amended Motionfor Summary Judgment
(Doc. No. 32 isdenied and hedefendant’s Motion to Affirm{Doc. No.34) is granted

This is not a recommended ruling. The consent of the parties allowdabistrateJudge
to direct the entry of a judgment of the district court in accordance with tleedr&iiles of Civil
Procedure. Appeals can be made directly to the appropriate United States @Gqpeals from
this judgment.See28 U.S.C. § 636(c)(3);d#D. R.Civ. P.73(c).

Dated at New Haven, Connectictitis 22" day ofJuly 2019.

/s/ Robert M. Spector, USMJ

Robert M. Spector
United States Magistrate Judge
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